
   

 
 

    

Contact: Torin Fuller 

Tel: 01246 217375 

Email: torin.fuller@ne-derbyshire.gov.uk 

Date: Thursday, 18 September 2025 

 
To: Members of the Clay Cross Town Deal Board 
 
Please attend a meeting of the Clay Cross Town Deal Board to be held on Friday, 26 
September 2025, at 10.00 am in Meeting Rooms 1 & 2, District Council Offices, 2013 Mill 
Lane, Wingerworth, Chesterfield S42 6NG at the District Council Offices, 2013 Mill Lane, 
Wingerworth, Chesterfield, S42 6NG. 
 
 
Yours sincerely  
 

 
Assistant Director of Governance and Monitoring Officer  
 
 

Public Document Pack

Page 1



 

A G E N D A 
 
 
1   Apologies for Absence   

 
2   Declarations of Interest   

 
 Members are requested to declare the existence and nature of any disclosable 

pecuniary interests and/or other interests, not already on their register of 
interests, in any item on the agenda and withdraw from the meeting at the 
appropriate time. 
 

3   Minutes of Last Meeting  (Pages 4 - 6) 
 

 To approve as a correct record and the Chair to sign the Minutes of the Clay 
Cross Town Board held on 20 June 2025. 
 

4   Terms of Reference (Annual Update)  (Pages 7 - 19) 
 

 Report from Tris Burdett, Programmes Manager – Programme Management 
Team 
 

5   Quarterly Dashboard - Programme Update  (Pages 20 - 33) 
 

 Presentation from Tris Burdett, Programmes Manager – Programme Management 
Team 
 

6   Update on Baileys Square Tenants   
 

 Verbal update form Mohammed Mahroof, Property and Estates Manager 
 

7   Highways Update   
 

 Verbal update from Steve Lee, Assistant Director of Regeneration and 
Programmes 
 

8   Any Other Business   
 

9   Date, Time and Venue for Next Meeting   
 

 The next meeting of the Clay Cross Town Deal Board will be held on 5 December 
2025 at Mill Lane. 
 

___________ 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 2



 

Access for All statement 
 

You can request this document or information in another format such as 

large print or language or contact us by: 

 
 Phone -01246 231111 

 Email - connectne@ne-derbyshire.gov.uk 

 Text - 07800 00 24 25 

 BSL Video Call – a three way video call with us and a BSL interpreter. It is free 

to call North East Derbyshire District Council with Sign Solutions or call into the 

offices at Wingerworth.  

 Call with Relay UK via textphone or app on 0800 500 888 a free phone service  

 Visiting our offices at 2013 Mill Lane, Wingerworth, S42 6NG 

 

Page 3

mailto:connectne@ne-derbyshire.gov.uk
https://www.interpreterslive.co.uk/app/nederbyshire-district-council/
https://www.interpreterslive.co.uk/app/nederbyshire-district-council/
https://www.relayuk.bt.com/


1 

CLAY CROSS TOWN DEAL BOARD 
 

MINUTES OF MEETING HELD ON FRIDAY, 20 JUNE 2025 
 

Present: 
 

Councillor Nigel Barker (Vice-Chair)   (in the Chair) 
 
 

Councillor Jayne Barry Portfolio Holder for Growth & Assets 
NEDDC 

Councillor Pat Kerry Deputy Leader NEDDC 
Councillor Kathy Rouse 
 
Councillor Robert Reaney 

Portfolio Holder for Health & Leisure 
NEDDC 
DCC Representative  

Karl Apps 
 

Assistant Director of Sustainable Growth 
DCC 

Gavin Varley Chesterfield College Vice Principal  
Andrew King Clay Cross Town Centre Group 
Councillor Brian Wright 
Angela Stansfield  
 
Bruce Hunter 

Clay Cross Parish Council 
Employer & Partnership Manager - North 
Derbyshire DWP 
Riber Products Ltd 

 
 
Also Present: 
 
S Lee Assistant Director - Regeneration and Programmes and SIRO 
T Burdett Programmes Manager 
M Mahroof Property & Estates Manager 
S Stevenson Partnership Strategy & Support Officer 
T Scott  Governance and Scrutiny Officer 
 
 
CXT
B/1/2
5-26 

Apologies for Absence 
 
Apologies for absence were received from Lee Barnes, Councillor Charlotte 
Cupit, Councillor Alex Dale, Louise Jones MP, Matt Broughton, Jayne Dethick 
and Becky Hunter. 
 
Bruce Hunter attended as a substitute for Becky Hunter.  
 

CXT
B/2/2
5-26 

Declarations of Interest 
 
None. 
 

CXT
B/3/2
5-26 

Minutes of Last Meeting 
 
RESOLVED –  
 
That the minutes of the meeting held on 21 March 2025 were approved as a true 
record. 

Page 4

Agenda Item 3



2 

 
CXT
B/4/2
5-26 

Quarterly Dashboard - Programme Update 
 
The Board received a programme update on the Clay Cross Town Deal projects, 
as well as an evaluation of the associated risks moving forward. This included an 
update on the Town Centre Regeneration project and the Low Carbon Challenge 
Fund (LCCF). 
 
The Board were presented with videos that displayed the progress of the projects, 
as well as the opening of Clay Cross Active on 18 June 2025. 
 
The Board discussed the opening of Clay Cross Active and felt that the facility 
was very good and thanked all of the staff involved. 
 
The Board also discussed the possible closure of Clay Cross Adult Community 
Education Centre, which had been put forward as a proposal by Derbyshire 
County Council. The Board shared concerns about the proposed closure, 
including if there were provisions in place to deal with the closure’s effects. It was 
clarified that the Clay Cross Adult Education Centre was not affected and its 
usage may increase due to the closure of some other centres. 
 
The Board heard some of the milestones for the projects in the coming months, 
including the completion of the Bridge Street Works on 25 July.  
 
RESOLVED –  
 
That the Board noted the update. 
 

CXT
B/5/2
5-26 

Update on Baileys Square Tenants 
 
The Board received a verbal update from the Head of Property and Estates on 
the status of the business units in Baileys Square. 
 
The Board were informed that there had been new interest in the units, and there 
was a session held at the units to allow people to visit them. The intention has 
been to create food and drink establishments and improve the nighttime economy 
of the area. 
 
Some Members of the Board felt that the focus could be on other activities 
instead of just food and drink. The Head of Property and Estates explained that 
as well and food and drink, leisure activity was also a priority, with one of the units 
currently in negotiation with a business incorporating physical activity. 
 
RESOLVED –  
 

CXT
B/6/2
5-26 

Communications Statistics 
 
The Chair informed the Board that the Communications Officer was unable to 
attend to deliver the statistics. 
 
RESOLVED –  
 

Page 5



3 

That the Board withdrew the agenda item. 
 

CXT
B/7/2
5-26 

Any Other Business 
 
None. 
 

CXT
B/8/2
5-26 

Date, Time and Venue for Next Meeting 
 
The next meeting of the Clay Cross Town Deal Board would be held at 10.00 a.m. 
Friday 26 September 2025 at Mill Lane. 
  

Page 6



Clay Cross Town Board 
 

Friday 26th September 2025 
 

Terms of Reference Update 
 

Report of the Section 151 Officer – J Dethick 
 

Classification: Public     
 
Report By: Tris Burdett, Programmes Manager & Interim Economic 

Development Manager 
 
Contact Officer: as above 
 

 
PURPOSE / SUMMARY 
 
To provide for the Board’s consideration the updated Clay Cross Town Board 
Terms of Reference following the annual review. 
 

 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
  
That the Town Deal Board notes the contents of this report and agree with the 
following: 
 
1. To approve the revised Terms of Reference for the Clay Cross Town Board.  
 
 

 

IMPLICATIONS 
 

 

Finance and Risk:   Yes☐  No ☒  

Details: There is no financial impact to note.  
 

On Behalf of the Section 151 Officer 
 

 

Legal (including Data Protection):   Yes☐  No ☒  

Details: The role of the Board, as set out within the Terms of Reference, do not 

conflict with the Constitution of the Accountable Body.  

On Behalf of the Solicitor to the Council 
 

Staffing:  Yes☐  No ☒   

Details: This will be completed within existing officer workloads. 
 

On behalf of the Head of Paid Service 
 

Page 7

Agenda Item 4



 
REPORT DETAILS 
 
1 Background (reasons for bringing the report) 
 
1.1  The Clay Cross Town Deal Board Terms of Reference were last agreed at the 

CCTB meeting on 27th September 2024. The annual review is therefore now 
due.  

 
 
2. Details of Proposal or Information 
 
2.1 The Terms of Reference set out the membership and responsibilities of the 

CCTB to oversee and provide strategic steer over the delivery phase of the 

programme.   

 

2.2 As the Programme continues to move forward, a regular review of the CCTB 

Terms of Reference ensures that stakeholders can contribute in a meaningful 

way and support the delivery of the Programme as required.  

 
 
3 Reasons for Recommendation  
 
3.1 To ensure the Clay Cross Town Board remains fit for purpose and able to 

oversee the delivery stage of the Programme.  
 
 
4 Alternative Options and Reasons for Rejection 
 
4.1 There are no alternative options to consider. 
 
DOCUMENT INFORMATION 
 

Appendix No 
 

Title 

Appendix 1 Term of Reference Stage 2 v5 
 

Background Papers (These are unpublished works which have been relied on to a 
material extent when preparing the report.  They must be listed in the section below.  
If the report is going to Cabinet you must provide copies of the background papers) 

 
n/a 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 8



5.0 

TOWNS FUND: CLAY CROSS TOWN DEAL 

 

Clay Cross Town Board – Terms of Reference 

Stage 2 – Delivery 

 

1. Constitution 

1.1 The Board was constituted at a full meeting of the Clay Cross Town 
Board (CCTB) held on Friday 24th January 2020.  
 

1.2 These Terms of Reference (V5) were agreed by the CCTB on 26th 
September 2025 and will be reviewed no later than the end of 
September 2026. 

 

2. Background 
2.1 The Clay Cross Town Deal (CCTD), underpinned by a Town 

Investment Plan (TIP), is a £24.1m investment for Clay Cross which is 
being funded by the Government Department for Levelling Up, 
Housing and Communities (MHCLG). 

 
2.2 The remit of the CCTB is to provide strategic direction and overseeing 

the implementation of the Town Investment Plan (TIP).  It is a multi-
organisation Board comprising of representatives from public, private, 
voluntary and community organisations. The Board is not a legal entity, 
and its role is advisory. Its purpose is to be an ambassador for the 
Programme and work with the Accountable Body, North East Derbyshire 
District Council (NEDDC), to ensure the TIP, also known as the 
Masterplan, is delivered.   

 
2.3 The Board represents a variety of interests and has the skills and 

expertise to support the development and delivery of the £24.1m TIP. 
Observers include MHCLG and the NEDDC staff who provide a 
Programme Office and Project Management function (Delivery Team) on 
behalf of the Accountable Body and CCTB. 

 

2.4 These terms of reference set out the membership and responsibilities of 
the CCTB to oversee and provide strategic steer over stage 2 of the 
programme which will focus on delivery.   

 

3. Membership 
3.1 As required by MHCLG, The Board will be led by a private sector Chair. 

The members of the Board shall be appointed by the Board and may be 
removed at any time by the Board.  In the event of the Board Chair 
resigning, to enable the function of the Board to continue, a Public Sector 
Chair can be appointed on an interim basis whilst another Private Sector 

Page 9



5.0 

Chair is sought and elected.  The Board should regularly review its 
membership to ensure the right balance of skills and experiences are 
maintained throughout the programme. 

3.2 The process for appointing a Chair is as follows: 
o That an external advert placed and communicated as appropriate 
o That a candidate must demonstrate strong business links with 

Clay Cross 
o The shortlisting and appointing be made by a panel of three Board 

Members, with at least two from the Accountable Body’s 
governing administration. This panel will act on behalf of the 
Board 

o That the Board consider endorsement of the panel’s decision at 
next meeting.  

3.3 The Vice Chair, representing and be appointed by the Accountable Body. 
3.4 The Clay Cross Town Board shall comprise of up to 18 voting Board 

Members who are  representatives from:  

Public Sector 

i. All tiers of local government 

 North East Derbyshire District Council 
At least 5 Members which must include the portfolio holder for 
Growth and Assets 
Clay Cross Parish Council Chair 
 
Derbyshire County Council: 

 Cabinet Representative 

 Senior Officer from Economy and Regeneration 
 

Member of Parliament for North East Derbyshire 
 

 

ii. Other public bodies, education sector, arms-length bodies and 
non-departmental agencies who provide skills and experience in 
relation to TIP projects. 

iii. Third sector organisations 

 

Businesses 

iv. Representatives from businesses in Clay Cross 
v. Representatives from business networks in the town 

 
 

3.5 The CCTB may comprise of other private sector representatives and 
developers who operate on a national and international platforms who 
understand the requirements for investment and can help identify the 
best use of private and public funds.  

 

Page 10



5.0 

3.6 Applications for new Board Members shall be supported by at least 3 
Board members before a report from the lead officer of the Clay Cross 
Town Delivery team is considered by the full Clay Cross Town Deal 
Board.  

 

3.7 A Board Member shall cease to be a Member of the Clay Cross Town 
Board in the following circumstances: 

a) Such Board Member gives written notice to the Chair of their notice 
of resignation. 

b) Such Board Member fails to attend more than two consecutive 
meetings without giving apologies. 

c) Such Board Member’s death. 
d) Such Board Member’s bankruptcy making of any arrangement or 

composition with their creditors, or liquidation, or in the case of an 
organisation, winding up, liquidation, dissolution or administration or 
anything analogous to any of the foregoing occurring in relation to a 
Member in any jurisdiction.  

e) Such Board Member is removed from membership by a resolution 
of the Board that it is in the best interests of the Board that the 
membership is terminated.  

 

3.8 Board Members may be removed from the Clay Cross Town Board as 
set out in Schedule 1 (Clay Cross Town Board Code of Conduct). Any 
Board Member removed may not be reappointed. 

 
3.9 In exceptional circumstances Board Members may send a suitable 

substitute to represent their organisation in their absence. This should be 
agreed with the Chair in advance of the meeting. The substitute must 
adhere to all the requirements as laid out in the agreed Terms of 
Reference. 

 

4. Responsibilities 
4.1 To maintain strategic oversight of the CCTD Programme. 

 
4.2 To provide support and advice to the Accountable Body to aid the 

delivery of business cases/strategic assessments for each strand of the 
TIP.  

 

4.3 To receive updates on delivery, performance and risk from the 
Accountable Body. 

 
4.4 To work together to shape and manage the town of Clay Cross, focusing 

on the priorities around: 
a) Use of existing public assets - new development focused on the 

town centre 
b) Skills and training for the 21st century 
c) Physical connectivity 

d) Health and Wellbeing. 
 

Page 11



5.0 

4.5 To seek to add social value to the work we all deliver by considering 
wider socio-economic, environmental and health impacts through our 
normal service and project delivery work. 

 
4.6 To explore and progress all future funding and opportunities to deliver 

against the overarching vision for Clay Cross town centre and the 
surrounding area.  

 

4.7 To ensure that the Town Fund Delivery Team has sufficient resources, 
knowledge and capacity available to deliver the objectives. 

 
4.8 To make representation to Government departments for advice and 

assistance as necessary. 
 

4.9 To ensure the necessary liaison arrangements are in place to maximise 
resources across the range of partners, and to work collaboratively to 
deliver the shared objectives. 

 

4.10 To ensure the views of the community are represented and considered 
through community engagement, consultation and communication. 

   
4.11 Through active engagement with the community, ensure all the 

necessary governance matters within the remit of NEDDC are identified 
and progressed effectively. 

 
4.12 ‘Task and finish’ groups will be formed where necessary to look at 

specific pieces of work within each Workstream. 
 

5. Professional and Administrative Support 

5.1 NEDDC is the Accountable Body for CCTD. As Accountable Body the 

Council will utilise existing rules as outlined in the Constitution throughout 

the life of the programme and the Council’s Statutory Officers will play a 

key role in ensuring compliance. 

 

5.2 Committee management and administrative support to the Board will be 

provided by NEDDC. 

 

6. Quorum 
6.1 The quorum for meetings of the Board will be a quarter or 3 voting 

Members, whichever is the greater including the Chair and must include 
representation from North East Derbyshire District Council. Partners can 
send a nominated deputy (adhering to the conditions set out in 3.9) but 
only one representative per organisation may be in attendance (NEDDC 
and DCC may have a number of supporting officers in attendance). 
 

6.2 If there is no quorum at the published start time for the meeting, the 
meeting can proceed but no substantive decisions will be binding upon 
the Board future direction. 

 

Page 12



5.0 

6.3 No decisions taken by the Board will be binding upon individual partner 
organisations – each organisation will be subject to their normal 
governance processes and expected to seek appropriate authority where 
relevant, as a result of any decisions taken by the Board. 

 

6.4 The Board Shall:  
Delegate to the Chairman of the Board the authority to make urgent 
decisions, having consulted by way of email with Board Members, where 
a Board cannot be convened in a timely manner to consider a matter. 
The decision shall be published as soon as practically possible once 
taken. 
 
 

7. Frequency of Meetings 
7.1 Meetings will be held quarterly. The frequency of meetings can be varied 

following a discussion and vote of the Board, at the discretion of the 
Chair.   
 

7.2 Formal Board meetings will take place in public where all formal 
decisions of the Board will be taken.  

 

7.3 Informal Board Meetings may take place from time to time. These will be 
in private and not open to the public. Other persons and external 
advisers may be invited to attend all or part of any meeting as and when 
appropriate as observers and shall be entitled to speak at the meeting 
with the prior permission of the Chair but shall not be entitled to vote.  
 

 

 
8. Conduct 

8.1 Board Members will act in accordance with the Clay Cross Town Board 
Code of Conduct (as seen in schedule 1).  

 

9. Notice of and invitations to meetings 
9.1 At least five clear working days before a meeting, a copy of the agenda 

and associated papers will be sent to every Member of the Board.  The 
agenda will give the date, time and place of each meeting and specify 
the business to be transacted and will be accompanied by such details 
as are available.  

 

10.  Voting 
10.1 Board Members commit to seek, where possible, to operate on the basis 

of consensus. A list of Board Members eligible to vote can be found in 
Schedule 2.  
 

10.2 Should it not be possible in a specific instance to find a consensus, the 
decision will be made on the basis of a simple majority. The Chair will 
have the casting vote.  

Page 13



5.0 

 

10.3 Matters which are the responsibility of the Accountable Body, (for 
externally secured funding) will be reserved to NEDDC. This includes 
taking responsibility for the appropriate defrayal of all secured 
regeneration funding (Town Fund and any other secured external 
partnership funding) and the Council will not be bound by decisions of 
the Board which could compromise its position as Accountable Body.  
 
 

11. Minutes 
11.1 The Chair will sign the minutes of the proceedings at the next suitable     

meeting.  The Chair will move that the minutes of the previous meeting 
be signed as a correct record. 
 

11.2 The minutes will include a list of agreed action points, which will be 
discussed in considering the minutes of the previous meeting. 
 

11.3 Minutes will be made available to the public. 

 

12. General Matters 
12.1 Board Members should make themselves available from time to time to 

meet the Cabinet of NEDDC both formally and informally, and to attend 
meetings of the Council’s Scrutiny Committees as and when invited.  
 

12.2 Board Members shall duly sign and return the Clay Cross Town Board’s 
Code of Conduct (Appendix 1) and Declaration of Interests on an 
annual basis.  

 

12.3 The Board may be provided with appropriate and timely training, both in 
the form of an induction programme for new Members and on an 
ongoing basis.  

 

12.4 The Board shall be entitled to invite relevant third parties to attend any 
meeting of the Board as observers and they may be entitled to speak at 
a meeting of the Board with the prior permission of the Chair but shall 
not be entitled to vote.  

 

12.5 The Board shall give due consideration to all laws and regulations as 
appropriate.  

 

12.6 The Board will, from time to time, consider projects and proposals of a 
“commercial in confidence” or sensitive nature that will not be for 
publication under existing legislative provisions (Data Protection and 
Freedom of Information). All Board Members and invited third parties 
will observe the need for confidentiality in this respect.  

 

12.7 The Clay Cross Town Board will be subject to the privacy legislation 
contained within Data Protection Act 2018, Freedom of Information Act 

Page 14



5.0 

2000 and the Environmental Protection Regulations (various). Such 
requests will be serviced by NEDDC in accordance with NEDDC 
policies and procedures.  

 

12.8 Members of the public may wish to contact the Clay Cross Town Board. 
Any such contact will be managed by the Clay Cross Town Board 
Delivery Team and contact details will be published on the Clay Cross 
Town Deal website. The Delivery Team may where appropriate, 
engage with the Chair and/or wider Board. 

 

13. Review 
13.1 The Government may publish further guidance on the operation and 

function of Town Deal Boards and these Terms of Reference must be 
reviewed in accordance with any such guidance.  

 
13.2 The Board may amend these terms of reference at any time and will be 

reviewed on an annual basis.  
 
 
 
 
 

  

Page 15



5.0 

Schedule 1  
 

Clay Cross Town Board Code of Conduct 
 

The Clay Cross Town Board (CCTB) has adopted this code setting out the expected 
behaviours required of its Board Members, acknowledging that they each have a 
responsibility to represent the ambition of the Town Deal for Clay Cross and work 
constructively with the Town Deal Delivery Team and partner organisations to develop 
and deliver the own Board Investment Plan and associated activities.  
 
The Role of the CCTB is to;  
 

 Develop and agree an evidenced based Town Investment Plan (also known as 
the Masterplan).  

 Develop a clear programme of interventions  

 Coordinate resources and influence stakeholders  
 
In accordance with the Towns Fund Prospectus, when acting in a Board Member 
capacity, members must be committed to behaving in a manner that is consistent with 
the Nolan principles to achieve best outcome for our residents and maintain public 
confidence in the actions of the Board;  
 
SELFLESSNESS:  
 

Holders of public office should act solely in terms of the public interest.  
 
INTEGRITY: 
  

Holders of public office must avoid placing themselves under any obligation to outside 
individuals or organisations that might try inappropriately to influence them in their work.  
 
They should not act or take decisions in order to gain financial or material benefits for 
themselves, their family or their friends. They must declare and resolve any interests 
and relationships.  
 

OBJECTIVITY:  
 

Holders of public office must act and take decisions impartially, fairly and on merit, 
using the best evidence and without discrimination or bias.  
 
ACCOUNTABILITY:  
 

Holders of public office are accountable for their decisions and actions to the public and 
must submit themselves to the scrutiny necessary to ensure this.  
 
OPENNESS:  
 

Holders of public office should act and take decisions in an open and transparent 
manner. Information should not be withheld from the public unless there are clear and 
lawful reasons for so doing.  

Page 16



5.0 

 
HONESTY: 
 

Holders of public office should be truthful.  
 

LEADERSHIP:  
 

Holders of public office should exhibit these principles in their own behaviour. They 
should actively promote and robustly support the principles and be willing to challenge 
poor behaviour wherever it occurs.  
 

Conflict of Interests  
 

Having regard to the nature of the likely interventions that will be explored as part of 
development of the Investment Plan, from time to time a conflict of interest may arise 
for Board Members.  
 
A conflict of interest arises where a Board Member, a close associate, immediate 
family, business, organisation or employer has an interest in a matter which is the same 
as, connected to or may be affected by the matter under discussion.  
 
At a meeting, Members must declare any interest which they have in any matter to be 
considered at that meeting. If the interest in the matter being discussed which a 
member of the public who knew of the facts would reasonably regard as so significant 
that it is likely to prejudice the Board Members judgement of the Board’s interest in the 
matter, then the Board  
Member must declare the interest at the start of the agenda item and must not vote on 
the matter. However, due to the nature of information the Board Member may have 
relating to the topic under discussion, such as financial, viability, feasibility and volume 
by way of example, the Board Member will be able to take part in the debate.  
 
A Register of Interest will be maintained by the Secretary to the Board.  
 

Registration of Gifts and Hospitality  
 

Board Members must register in the Register of Members Gifts and Hospitality, held by 
the Council’s Monitoring Officer any gift or hospitality worth £50 or over received (or 
offered), in connection with their official duties as a Board Member and the source of 
that gift or hospitality (or offer) within 28 days of receiving it.  
 
Acceptance by Board Members of hospitality through attendance at relevant events, 
conferences and other Board related activity is acceptable where it is clear the 
hospitality is corporate rather than personal.  
 

Complaints  
 

Where a person has reason to believe that the conduct of a Board Member of the 
CCTB has fallen short of the standards set out above, encapsulated in the Nolan 
Principles, a complaint may be made in writing to;  
 
Assistant Director of Governance (Monitoring Officer) 

Page 17



5.0 

North East Derbyshire District Council,  
2013 Mill Lane, 
Wingerworth, 
Chesterfield,  
Derbyshire, 
S42 6NG  
 
Or email Sarah.Sternberg@ne-derbyshire.gov.uk  
 

The complaint should set out as follows;  
i. The nature of the complaint  
ii. Details of how the Board Member was acting in an official Clay Cross Town 

Board capacity  
iii. Details of which Nolan Principle has been breached and why  
iv. If relating to a conflict of interest, details of how the conflict has occurred and 

impact of that conflict.  
 
The Director of Growth and Assets will review the complaint and determine if the Clay 
Cross Town Board Member was acting in an official capacity and if the complaint was 
proven, whether a Nolan Principle would have been breached. If both these are criteria 
are met, the complaint will be referred to the Chair of the Clay Cross Town Board (or 
Deputy Chair in the event the Chair is subject to a complaint).  
 
Removal of a Clay Cross Town Board Member from the Board  
 
In the event Clay Cross Town Board Member’s conduct falls short of that expected and 
a breach of the Code of Conduct has taken place, the Board may by resolution remove 
that Board Member from the Clay Cross Town Board.  
 
This may only occur when;  
 

i. The Board Member has been given at least 14 days clear days’ notice in writing 
of the meeting of the Board at which the resolution will be proposed and the 
reasons why it will be proposed; and  

ii. The Board Member has been given a reasonable opportunity to make 
representations to the meeting in person and/or in writing. The other Board 
Members must consider any representations made by the Board Member and 
inform them of their decision following such consideration.  

iii. There shall be no right of appeal from a decision of the Board’s decision to 
terminate the membership of a Board Member.  

 
Further information  
 
Please email any further queries to Sarah.Sternberg@ne-derbyshire.gov.uk 

 

  

Page 18

mailto:Sarah.Sternberg@ne-derbyshire.gov.uk
mailto:Sarah.Sternberg@ne-derbyshire.gov.uk


5.0 

Schedule 2 
 

Voting Board Members 

Public Sector 

 Leader of North East Derbyshire District Council 
 Deputy Leader of North East Derbyshire District Council 
 Portfolio Holder for Health and Leisure for North East Derbyshire District Council 
 Portfolio Holder for Growth and Assets for North East Derbyshire District Council 
 Leader of the Opposition for North East Derbyshire District Council  
 Representative of Clay Cross Parish Council 
 MP for North East Derbyshire 
 Councillor and Cabinet Representative for Derbyshire County Council 
 Director of Growth and Assets for North East Derbyshire District Council 
 Senior Regeneration Officer for Derbyshire County Council 
 General Manager of Chesterfield and North East Derbyshire for Derbyshire 

Community Health Services NHS Foundation Trust 
 Representative from Chesterfield College 
 Representative from University of Derby 
 Representative from Department of Work and Pensions 
 Representative from D2N2/EMCCA 

 

Private Sector (and private sector Board Members appointed throughout the year) 

 Lee Barnes (Inspire Planning and Design Ltd)  
 Andrew King of Clay Cross Town Centre Group 
 Representative  of Urban Design & Developments, Riber Products Ltd 

 

 

Page 19



Clay Cross Town Deal  
Programme Report 

September 2025

P
age 20

A
genda Item

 5



PROGRAMME UPDATE
SEPTEMBER 2025
SUMMARY

The second first quarter of this financial year has seen the 
following progress being made on the programme. 

Clay Cross Active: 
• Successful opening of the new Clay Cross Active leisure 

centre.
• Membership increase of 196% 

Town Centre Regeneration:
• Several units in the process of securing tenants. 
• The first phase of the highways connections works 

(Bridge Street) have been completed.
• Temporary access routes into the Adult Ed building 

completed in readiness for the demolition works to start 
on the former youth centre.

• Library design progressing well.

Overview
Ø Total programme budget of £24.1m.
Ø Programme to be financially completed by March 2026.

Aims 
Ø Urban Regeneration: Thriving town and town centre for 

people to live and work.
Ø Skills and Infrastructure: Supporting investment, 

development of businesses and creating opportunities for 
training and skills development.

Ø Connectivity: Improving local transport links and improved 
connectivity.

Projects
Ø Clay Cross Active: new leisure centre and community 

hub.
Ø Town Centre Regeneration: transport and connections 

improvements, new community/social spaces, learning 
hubs and business enterprise units.

Ø Low Carbon Challenge Fund: programme of support to 
help stimulate the transition to a low carbon economy.

Ø Low Carbon Local Area Energy Plan: outlining how Clay 
Cross can achieve net zero carbon by 2050.

Ø Rail Station Feasibility: identify the viability of a train 
station in Clay Cross. 

P
age 21



CLAY CROSS TOWN DEAL
KEY MILESTONES

Project  £

2025/26 2026/27

Apr-Sept H1 Oct-Dec Q3 Jan-Mar Q4 Apr-Sept H1

Town Centre Regeneration
Start: Jan 2023
End:  Mar 2026  £15.3m

        Bridge St works 
        complete

      
  Construction continues 

            No 1 Baileys Sq
            Baileys Sq units
               
             Baileys Units 
             landscaping 
             works start

       Market St works
        start 

       Block B prelim works
       start

        No 1 Baileys Sq  
        works complete 

        Baileys Sq units
        complete

         Baileys Sq
         landscaping
         works complete

         Market St  works
         complete

        A61 works start
        and complete

        Block B/library
        works complete

      Market St works
      rescheduled start

   

   Block B/library works
   rescheduled completion

   Market St works 
   rescheduled completion

    KEY
          Achieved             Overdue
     On Target             Unlikely To Meet Target   

 

P
age 22



PROGRAMME – RISK AND FINANCE 
Top Programme Risks Mitigation  

Delay to agreeing both temporary Wayleaves and Permanent 
Easement (allowing National Grid access to site) could impact on the 
programme timeline and delay practical completion of Block B and 
library build. Could also impact on the project financially.

Temporary Wayleaves with DCC to approve as soon as possible to 
ensure start on site can commence to undertake initial works e.g. 
ducting.  Possible escalation DCC senior leaders to ensure timely 
completion. For NEDDC to ensure ongoing discussion to approve 
Permanent Easement (agreement between National Grid, DCC and 
NEDDC) is in place to ensure timely completion.

Main incoming electricity supply to the new library and Adult 
Education building is located within the demolition area impacting 
continuity of Adult Education provision whilst re-siting. 

Work with utility providers to find alternative solutions. Project team are 
engaging with Adult Education staff to keep informed and minimise 
disruption to service delivery. 

Delay to DCC issuing Highways approval S278 for Market St works 
which could impact on the programme timeline and delay practical 
completion.  

Proactive and regular updates to be provided between NEDDC and 
DCC. Awaiting confirmation from DCC of recalculated 278 fees to enable 
approval. 

Ja
n-2
3

Fe
b-2
3

Ma
r-2
3

Ap
r-2
3

Ma
y-2
3

Ju
n-2
3
Ju
l-2
3

Au
g-2
3

Se
p-2
3

Oc
t-2
3

No
v-2
3

De
c-2
3

Ja
n-2
4

Fe
b-2
4

Ma
r-2
4

Ap
r-2
4

Ma
y-2
4

Ju
n-2
4
Ju
l-2
4

Au
g-2
4

Se
p-2
4

Oc
t-2
4

No
v-2
4

De
c-2
4

Ja
n-2
5

Fe
b-2
5

Ma
r-2
5

Ap
r-2
5

Ma
y-2
5

Ju
n-2
5
Ju
l-2
5

Au
g-2
5

Se
p-2
5

Oc
t-2
5

No
v-2
5

De
c-2
5

Ja
n-2
6

Fe
b-2
6

Ma
r-2
6

Ap
r-2
6

Ma
y-2
6

Ju
n-2
6

25,000,000

20,000,000

15,000,000

10,000,000

5,000,000

0

Clay Cross Town Deal Programme Overview

Total Programme Spend profile Actual Spend DLUHC Grant Drawdown Cumulative

P
age 23



Outputs and Outcomes Target

To be 
achieved 

by Actual Progress

 New/upgraded protected sports centre 1 June 2025 1 Centre now open.   

 New /upgraded cycle/walking path  
km/Total length of pedestrian paths 

improved
3 March 

2026 474m
 CCA – External pathways excluding the rear.  Additional monitoring to
  take place once the 3G pitch construction reaches completion.. 

Amount of new 'other' enterprise space 
(m2) 4,800 June 2025 5,202.50

 
Total floor space ground floor - 3782, 1st floor 1420.5. 
Overall total 5202.50

Number of full-time equivalent (FTE) 
permanent jobs safeguarded through 

the projects 20 June 2025 20
Achieved.

Number of full-time equivalent (FTE) 
permanent jobs created through the 

projects
5 June 2025 6.04

6.04 FTE jobs permanent jobs created.
26 casual jobs created on a permanent 0 hours contract, to cover 
sickness, AL and general demand.   

CLAY CROSS ACTIVE – MHCLG OUTPUTS AND OUTCOMES 

P
age 24



Outputs and Outcomes Progress

Overall increase in the number of attendances 
at Sharley Park Community Activity Hub

 
 Sharley Park LC July 2022 (pre closure) = 16,222 visits/month
 Clay Cross Active July 2025 = 28,187/month
 

New participants engaging with the Community 
Activity Hub – both actively and through the 
social opportunities. 

    
   Monthly direct debit memberships 
   Sharley Park LC at July 2023 = 919 members
   Clay Cross Active at July 2025 = 2720
   Increased members by 1,801

Increased everyday use of outdoor active 
environments around Sharley Park e.g. 
Pitches, walking and cycling routes 

 
Outdoor activity has improved through regular use of the new play park located at
 the side of the new facility and outdoor seating provision. 
The opening of the 3G pitch in Jan 2026 will increase outdoor activity further.

CLAY CROSS ACTIVE – OTHER OUTCOMES 
Indicative figures,  new data collection methods are in the process of being tested.  

P
age 25



TOWN CENTRE REGENERATION - UPDATE 

Current RAG Key Achievements  Progress Summary

Amber

• Several Baileys Sq 
units in the process of 
tenants being secured. 

• Bridge Street works 
have completed.

• Block A steels have 
been erected.

All Baileys Square units are complete. Groundwork/landscaping works have commenced. 

Block A steel frame erected and structural works commenced. Scaffolding to be removed end of 
September to allow drainage works to continue.

The detailed library designs are being finalised.  The project manager is working with DCC Adult 
Education staff to ensure there is as little disruption to the learning provision as possible during 
the Adult Ed refurbishment and library construction. 

Next Skills Workshop to be held on 18th September progress to be reported at Board.

Bridge Street works have completed,  Market Street works expected start date is from January 
2026.
The Temporary Wayleaves delays will impact on the overall project completion date.

PREVIOUS RAG 

Amber

Timeframe Budget Project Summary

Start: Jan 2023
End: March 2026

£15.3m

The Town Centre Regeneration project is supporting several changes being made to revitalise the centre of Clay 
Cross. Four key elements include transport and connections to enhance connectivity by foot and car, enhancement 
of the learning and skills hub in the Clock Tower building, create a community space and social area through a new 
town square and refurbished heritage building and utilising the Broadleys area (now known as Baileys Square) to 
provide flexible accommodation for businesses. 

P
age 26



TOWN CENTRE REGENERATION – LOOKING AHEAD 

OCT 25 NOV 25 DEC 25
 
No 1 Baileys Square
• 1st/2nd floor sub structure construction 

starts
• Roofing works start and complete

Baileys Square Units
• Internal works continue
• Landscaping works start

 

No 1 Baileys Square
• Internal works continue

Baileys Square Units
• Internal works continue
• Landscaping works continue

Baileys Square
Landscaping works to commence

No 1 Baileys Square
• Internal works complete

Baileys Square Units
• Internal works complete
• Landscaping works complete

Baileys Square
Landscaping works complete

P
age 27



TOWN CENTRE REGENERATION – RISK AND SPEND 
Top Risks Mitigation

Delay to agreeing both temporary Wayleaves and Permanent 
Easement (allowing National Grid access to site) could impact on 
the programme timeline and delay practical completion of Block B 
and library build. Could also impact on the project financially.

Temporary Wayleaves with DCC to approve as soon as possible to ensure 
start on site can commence to undertake initial works e.g. ducting.  
Possible escalation DCC senior leaders to ensure timely completion. For 
NEDDC to ensure ongoing discussion to approve Permanent Easement 
(agreement between National Grid, DCC and NEDDC) is in place to 
ensure timely completion.

Main incoming electricity supply to the new library and Adult 
Education building is located within the demolition area impacting 
continuity of Adult Education provision whilst re-siting. 

Work with utility providers to find alternative solutions. Project team are 
engaging with Adult Education staff to keep informed and minimise 
disruption to service delivery. 

Delay to DCC issuing Highways approval S278 for Market St works 
which could impact on the programme timeline and delay practical 
completion.  

Proactive and regular updates to be provided between NEDDC and DCC. 
Awaiting confirmation from DCC of recalculated 278 fees to enable 
approval. 

Jan-Mar 23 Apr-Jun 23 Jul-Sept 23 Oct-Dec 23 Jan-Mar 24 Apr-Jun 24 Jul-Sept 24 Oct-Dec 24 Jan-Mar 25 Apr-Jun 25 Jul-Sept 25 Oct-Dec 25 Jan-Mar 26 Apr 26 
onwards

0
1,500,000
3,000,000
4,500,000
6,000,000
7,500,000
9,000,000
10,500,000
12,000,000
13,500,000
15,000,000
16,500,000 Town Regen Actual vs Forecast Spend - £M

Forecast 1/3/25 Actual Spend

P
age 28



TOWN CENTRE REGENERATION – BUDGET 

The pie chart illustrates current 
budget allocations to various 
elements of the project. 

These figures are subject to 
adjustments due to ongoing 
value engineering exercises 
currently taking place. 

P
age 29



TOWN CENTRE REGENERATION – MHCLG OUTPUTS 

Outputs Target

To be 
achieved 

by
On target to 

achieve? Progress

Community Hub/ F&B (m2) 367 Mar 2026 Yes Refurbishment of No 1 Baileys Square will achieve this output.

Skills Hub & Library (m2) 1,394 Mar 2026 Yes Refurbishment of Block B/new Library will achieve this output.

Workspace/Retail Units (m2) 420 Mar 2026 Yes  Creation of business/commercial units and refurbishment of No 1 
Baileys Square will achieve this  output.

New net additional jobs (FTE) 55 Mar 2029 Yes The creation of the Community hubs/F&B, workspace and retail units    
will achieve this output.

New public realm (m2) 3,241 Mar 2026 Yes The Baileys Square development and Market Street improvements will  
achieve this output.

Wider public realm improvements (m2) 9,490 Mar 2026 Yes The new Leisure Centre, improved traffic/pedestrian spaces and event  
space will achieve this output.

Enterprises using commercial spaces 14 Mar 2029 Yes The new business units on Baileys Square and No 1 Baileys Square  
will achieve this  output. 

P
age 30



Outcomes Target

To be 
achieved 

by
On target to 

achieve? Comment

Capacity of new/improved training 
facilities  544 Mar 2026 Yes Refurbishment of learning space and Library will achieve this. 

Additional number of 
learning/students/trainees completing 

courses 
252 Mar 2029 Yes Learning through the Adult Education Centre and Library will achieve 

this outcome.

Number of learners enrolled in new 
education and training courses  224 Mar 2029 Yes

Learning through the Adult Education Centre and Library will achieve 
this outcome.

Number of close collaborations with 
employers  5 Mar 2029 Yes  Collaborations with employers at key sites including Block B and 

Library will achieve this outcome. 

TOWN CENTRE REGENERATION - MHCLG OUTCOMES 

P
age 31



LOW CARBON CHALLENGE FUND
MHCLG OUTPUTS AND OUTCOMES

Outputs and Outcomes Revised 
Targets 

To be 
achieved by Achieved Comment

New houses with improved (exemplar) 
energy consumption

60 March 26 11 No further opportunities to achieve this output have been identified.  

Enterprises receiving grant support 37 March 26 23  Total number businesses/enterprise receiving grant funding. 

Enterprises with improved energy 
consumption (production process) 

37 March 26 23  Total number businesses/enterprise receiving grant funding. 

Floor space with improved carbon 
performance (m2)

6,000 March 26  15,321  Target exceeded. 

Sites generating electricity from 
renewable sources

2 March 26 10 Target exceeded. 10 projects received LCCF support to generate 
electricity via renewable sources.

Innovative projects developed 5 March 26  1
Global Brands: installation of HVO refuelling station and other energy 
efficient interventions including lighting, solar panels and battery 
storage. 

P
age 32



FOR THE BOARD TO NOTE:

Clay Cross Active:  Project has reached the practical and financial completion.  
Ongoing monitoring to continue until MHCLG outputs/outcomes have been 
achieved.  

Town Centre Regeneration:  Project is progressing well, though the Wayleaves 
delay has impacted on timescales of practical completion.  Discussions being held 
with the contractor to understand what, if any cost implications there are.

Low Carbon Challenge Fund: Has now closed and the remaining funds moved to 
support the CCA and Town Centre Regeneration projects. 

Rail Feasibility: Maintaining a watching brief.

P
age 33


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of Last Meeting
	4 Terms of Reference (Annual Update)
	ToR Town Board Stage 2 v5

	5 Quarterly Dashboard - Programme Update

